STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

AUG 26 2014

Appeal from Richland County  
Joseph M. Strickland, Master-In-Equity  
James F. Barber, Jr., Supervising Circuit Court Judge  
Case No.: 2009-CP-40-05911  
Case No.: 2010-CP-40-02889

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Appellate Case No. 2014-000965

1634 Main, L.P.

Appellant

v.

Shirley Hammer,

Respondent

v.

Howard Hammer,

Appellant,

and

Howard Hammer

Appellant,

v.

Shirley Hammer,

Respondent

---

**APPELLANTS' BRIEF**

---

Thomas W. Bunch, II  
Robinson, McFadden & Moore, P.C.  
Post Office Box 944  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 779-8900

Arthur K. Aiken  
Aiken & Hightower, P.A.  
2231 Devine Street, Suite 201

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE MASTER ERR IN MAKING A DIRECT TRANSFER TO SH OF THE REAL PROPERTY AT 1634 MAIN STREET, HH'S INTEREST IN THE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, 1634 MAIN LP, AND HH'S INTEREST IN SH5, LLC WHEN THE DIRECT TRANSFER OF THESE PROPERTY INTERESTS VIOLATED APPLICABLE RULES, STATUTES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PRINCIPLES INTENDED TO PROTECT THE INTERESTS OF JUDGMENT DEBTORS AND THE INTERESTS OF THIRD PARTIES IN THE PROPERTY TRANSFERRED?**
- II. **DID THE MASTER ERR IN AWARDING SANCTIONS AGAINST HH AND THE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, 1634 MAIN LP, WHEN THERE WAS NO COMPLIANCE WITH KEY PROVISIONS OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-36-10 - THE SOUTH CAROLINA FRIVOLOUS CIVIL PROCEEDINGS SANCTIONS ACT?**
- III. **DID THE MASTER ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT HE HAD PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER HH AND 1634 MAIN, L.P. WHEN THE RULES TO SHOW CAUSE INITIATING THE SUPPLEMENTARY PROCEEDINGS WERE SERVED BY A PRIVATE PROCESS SERVER WHO WAS NEVER DESIGNATED BY ANY COURT TO SERVE THE RULES TO SHOW CAUSE?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of supplementary proceedings commenced by Rules to Show Cause (R. pp. 23-28) in which Shirley Hammer (SH) sought to enforce Judgments in her favor and against Howard Hammer (HH) and 1634 Main, LP.<sup>1</sup> By Order of reference, the supplemental proceedings were referred to the master. *Id.*

At the initial hearing in this matter on June 4, 2013,<sup>2</sup> HH and 1634 Main, LP made Motions to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(5) for insufficiency of service of process because the Rules

---

<sup>1</sup> HH and SH were once married.

<sup>2</sup> Contrary to statement in the master's June 10, 2014 Order (R. pp. 4-8), no hearing was held on May 30, 2013. When the undersigned appeared with Motions to Dismiss, the court scheduled these Motions for June 4, 2013. The undersigned informed HH and 1634 Main LP that the hearing on June 4, 2013, was limited to the issues raised by the Motions to Dismiss and that it would not be necessary for HH to bring the documents described in the Rules to the June 4, 2013, hearing. The undersigned apologizes if he misunderstood the master's intentions but notes this matter in view of the master's June 10, 2013, Order placing blame on HH and 1634 Main LP for failure to produce documents at June 4, 2013 hearing.

to Show Cause were served by a private process server. (R. pp. 33-36) Neither the Rules to Show Cause nor the Orders of Reference made any designation allowing a person other than the Sheriff or his deputy or another law enforcement officer to make service of the Rules to Show cause as required by Rule 4(c) SCRCPP. The master denied these Motions by Order dated June 10, 2013. (R. pp. 4-8)

Additional hearings were held on August 12, 2013, and January 9, 2014. At the hearing on August 12, 2013, SH's counsel made a Motion requesting that the master order the transfer to SH of the following property owned by HH and 1634 Main, LP:

- all right, title, and interest of both HH and 1634 Main, LP in the real property known as 1634 Main Street;
- all right, title, and interest of HH in SH5, LLC (SH5);<sup>3</sup> and
- all right, title, and interest of HH in 1634 Main, LP.

HH and 1634 Main, LP made a joint Motion for Summary Judgment in which they asserted that SH was not entitled to a transfer of these properties as a matter of law. (R. pp. 39-40)

On January 21, 2014, the master entered a final Judgment. This final Judgment denied the Appellants' joint Motion for Summary Judgment and provided for a transfer by deed to SH of all of the real and personal property listed above (transferred property). (R. p. 19) The final Judgment also compelled HH and 1634 Main, LP to pay to SH the sum of \$55,385.70 as sanctions under the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (SCFCPSA) - S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10. (R. p. 18) On January 22, 2014, the master executed a deed making the transfers provided for in his final Judgment of January 21, 2014. (R. pp. 381-383)

---

<sup>3</sup> SH5 was the general partner of 1634 Main, LP, and HH was the sole owner of SH5.

On February 3, 2014, HH and 1634 Main, LP filed a joint Motion to Alter or Amend under Rule 59(e) SCRPC. (R. pp. 41-47) In that Motion, HH and 1634 Main, LP raised the following points:

- that the master did not have authority to make a direct transfer of the transferred property under the statutes establishing the proper procedures for collecting on judgments;
- that the master failed to require SH to post a bond in an amount equal to two times the value of the property as a condition of transferring the property and as a condition of SH's right to sell the property as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130(A)(2);
- that the master violated the due process clauses of S.C. Const. art. 1, § 3 and U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 3 by making a direct transfer of the property because one of the minor children of HH and SH was a part owner (limited partner) of the limited partnership, 1634 Main L.P., and was never made a party to or represented in any way in these actions.; and
- that the master improperly awarded sanctions under the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (SCFCPSA) because - (a) the sanctions were awarded even though SH never filed a written sanctions motion after judgment had been rendered that specifically stated, for the benefit of the nonmoving party and the court, the conduct constituting a violation of the provisions of the section and never gave the basis for the requested potential sanctions as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10(C)(1) and (D); and (b) the sanctions award was made without giving HH and 1634 Main, LP thirty days to respond to SH's sanctions claim as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10(D).

By Order signed March 21, 2014, the master denied the joint Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. p. 22) HH and 1634 Main, LP received written notice of the March 21, 2014 Order on March 25, 2014. HH and 1634 Main, LP timely served Notices of Appeal on April 24, 2014.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On January 21, 2014, the master issued a final Judgment in supplementary proceedings that provided for a direct transfer of real property owned by HH and 1634 Main, LP to SH that had a stipulated value of \$900,000 to \$1,000,000. (R. p. 262, ll. 5-7; p. 369, ll. 19-23) Since the transfer of the real property, SH's counsel has represented to the master that, in fact, the real property recently appraised for \$1,475,000.00.

The aggregate amount of the judgments against both 1634 Main, LP and HH that is set forth in the Rules to Show Cause is \$157,375.45. (R. pp. 23-28) Subsequent to the issuance of the Rules to Show Cause, additional and separate judgments in the aggregate amount of \$177,793.31 were entered against the HH and 1634 Main, LP. (R. p. 10) No rules to show cause have ever been issued to bring these additional and separate judgments against HH and 1634 Main, LP before the master for collection.

SH presented no evidence of record of the additional judgments and made no request for judicial notice of the additional judgments. Property valued at up to almost \$1.5 million was transferred by Master's Deed to SH on her judgment of \$157,375.45. (R. pp. 23-28) One day after entry of his final Judgment, the master executed and delivered a Master's Deed making the real and personal property transfers. (R. pp. 381-383) The transfers were made without any bond even though the master's final Judgment ordered SH to sell the real property located at 1634 Main Street. (R. pp. 19-20)

The record shows that at the time of the first hearing in supplementary proceedings on June 4, 2013, SH and her counsel knew that HH and 1634 Main, LP owned real property located at 1634 Main Street with a value of \$900,000 to \$1,000,000, an amount more than sufficient to satisfy all judgments of SH. (R. p. 262, ll. 2-7) Therefore, a request for an execution against that property pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-310 et seq. could have been made at the June 4, 2013, hearing. If the request for an execution had been made at that time, further proceedings held in this matter would not have been necessary.

A child of HH and SH (minor child) owns a limited partnership interest in 1634 Main, LP. (R. p.331, l. 14-p. 332, l. 3) The only asset of 1634 Main, LP before its transfer to SH was the 1634 Main Street real property. As a result of transfer of all of 1634 Main, LP's right, title,

and interest in the 1634 Main Street real property, the minor child's limited partnership interest in 1634 Main, LP was made worthless. The minor child was never given notice of, made a party to, or given any opportunity to be heard in this case.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Supplementary proceedings are equitable in nature." Ag-Chem Equipment Co. v. Daggerhart, 281 S.C. 380, 383, 315 S.E.2d 379, 381 (Ct. App. 1984) (citing Ex Parte Roddey, 171 S.C. 489, 172 S.E. 866 (1934)). In an action in equity referred to the master for final judgment, an appellate court "may view the evidence to determine facts in accordance with (its) own view of the preponderance of the evidence." Friarsgate, Inc. v. First Federal Savings & Loan of South Carolina, 317 S.C. 452, 456, 454 S.E.2d 901, 904 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Argo, Inc., 301 S.C. 209, 391 S.E.2d 538 (1989) (parenthetical added)).

An action for sanctions under the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (SCFCPSA) – S.C. Code § 15-36-10 – sounds in equity. Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 156, 485 S.E.2d 903, 912 (1997). "In an action in equity tried by the judge alone, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence." Ex Parte Beard, 359 S.C. 351, 356, 597 S.E.2d 835, 838 (Ct. App. 2004). However, if "the appellate court agrees with the trial court's findings of fact (concerning SCFCPSA sanctions), it reviews the decision to award sanctions, as well as the amount of sanctions, under an abuse of discretion standard." Father v SCDSS, 353 S.C. 254, 261, 578 S.E.2d 11, 14 (2003) (parenthetical added).

An appellate court reviews a trial court's decision to exercise personal jurisdiction over a defending party under an abuse of discretion standard. Ex Parte South Carolina Department of Revenue, 350 S.C. 404, 407, 566 S.E.2d 196, 198 (Ct. App. 2002). A decision to exercise that

jurisdiction “will not be disturbed on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence or manifestly influenced or controlled by an error of law.” Indus. Equip. Co. v. Frank G. Hough Co., 218 S.C. 169, 173, 61 S.E.2d 884, 885 (1950).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE MASTER ERRED IN MAKING A DIRECT TRANSFER TO SH OF THE TRANSFERRED PROPERTY BECAUSE THAT DIRECT TRANSFER VIOLATED APPLICABLE RULES, STATUTES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS INTENDED TO PROTECT THE INTERESTS OF JUDGMENT DEBTORS AND THE INTERESTS OF THIRD PARTIES IN THE PROPERTY TRANSFERRED.**

#### **A. The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure**

Rule 62(a) SCRPC states that “no execution shall issue upon a judgment nor shall proceedings be taken for its enforcement until the expiration of 10 days after its entry.” This Rule establishes an automatic ten-day stay of all enforcement activity on a judgment. Gateway Enterprises, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue, 341 S.C. 103, 533 S.E.2d 896 (2000). The ten-day automatic stay applies only to judgments as defined in Rule 54(a) SCRPC. Gateway, 341 S.C. at 106, 533 S.E.2d at 898. Under Rule 54(a) SCRPC, a judgment “includes any decree or order which dismisses the action as to any party or finally determines the rights of any party.” Any enforcement action taken in violation of the ten-day stay is void. Lebovitz v. Mudd, 289 S.C. 476, 347 S.E.2d 94 (1986) (clerk’s cancellation of lis pendens within ten days of order of cancellation void).

The master took enforcement action on his final Judgment one day after it was entered when he executed the Master’s Deed. (R. pp. 381 – 383). If the master’s final Judgment fits the definition of a judgment under Rule 54(a) SCRPC, then the master violated the automatic ten-day stay rule in Rule 62(a) SCRPC. The master’s final Judgment does fit the Rule 54(a) SCRPC definition of a judgment. That final Judgment finally determines the rights of HH and 1634

Main, LP in that it transfers all of their right, title, and interest in property with finality. (Master's final Judgment). The master violated the automatic ten-day stay rule in Rule 62(a) SCRPC by executing the Master's Deed one day after the entry of his final Judgment, and the Master's Deed should, therefore, be declared void by this Court.

**B. The South Carolina Code**

**1. Judgment Liens**

At common law, a judgment did not create a lien on a judgment debtor's real property. In re Hinson, 20 B.R. 753 (Bkrcty.D.S.C. 1982). Our General Assembly changed this rule in 1873 by enacting what is now S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-810. That section states, in pertinent part, that "[f]inal judgments and decrees in any court of record in this state ... shall constitute a lien upon the real estate of the judgment debtor situate in any county in this state in which the judgment or transcript thereof is entered upon the book of abstracts of judgments and duly indexed ...." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-810 declares that judgment liens exist but gives no clear guidance on the question of their attributes.

A comprehensive description of the attributes of a judgment lien came in In re Hinson, supra, a federal bankruptcy case that analyzes the interests created by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-810. In In re Hinson, U.S. Bankruptcy Court Judge J. Bratton Davis observed that S.C. Code § 15-35-810 does not operate to transfer any interest in property and that "[s]uch a transfer can only be accomplished by sale pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-10 et seq." 20 B.R. at 757. Judge Davis then held that:

[a] judgment creditor has no estate or property interest in the land upon which the judgment has become a lien. He stands upon the law, which gives him a remedy for the collection of the debt by a sale of the land under execution.

20 B.R. at 757

In re Hinson dispels any notion that SH had any right to receive title to the transferred property by virtue of her status as a judgment lienholder. As a judgment lienholder, SH had no property interest in the transferred property. SH had no more than the right to force an execution sale of the transferred real property. SH cannot successfully justify the transfer of the property to her by invoking her limited rights as a judgment lienholder.

## 2. Executions against property

The pertinent definition of an execution in the context of this case is “the legal process of enforcing (a) judgment, usually by seizing and selling the property of the debtor.” Henry Campbell Black, Black’s Law Dictionary 510 (5th ed. 1979) (parenthetical added). The South Carolina Code provides for three types of executions on a judgment: “(a) against the property of the judgment debtor, (b) against his person, and (c) for the delivery of the possession of real property or such delivery with damages for withholding the property.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-10.

In his final Judgment, the master’s analysis goes off track from its inception by virtue of his misreading of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-10(c). The master identifies S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-10(c) as the source of his authority to transfer to SH the transferred property. That section authorizes execution by delivery of possession of real property. In his final Judgment, the master did not deliver possession of real property; he delivered title to real property. The very statutory provision that the master uses to justify his transfer of the transferred property to SH provides no support for that transfer.

The master’s actions can be justified, if at all, only as an execution against the property of the judgment debtor under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-10(a). The procedure for execution against property is set forth in S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-610 et seq. “When any sheriff or other officer

shall take the lands ... and chattels of any person whatsoever by virtue of any execution and the owner of such lands ... and chattels shall not, within five days after such taking, satisfy the debt, damages and costs of the party issuing such execution, such sheriff or other officer shall and may sell by auction the lands ... and chattels so taken ... for the best price that can be got for them.”

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-610 (emphasis added). “In those counties in which the office of master exists the master shall make all sales ordered by the court in granting equitable relief.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-630.

Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-630 the master had the authority to sell the transferred property, and under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-610, the master had the duty to sell that property. By failing to sell the transferred property through the process of execution and instead transferring the property to SH, the master erred. This Court should reverse for the master’s failure to follow the mandatory procedure for executing against the transferred property by selling it at auction to the highest bidder.

### **3. Supplementary proceedings**

Even in supplementary proceedings, the master did not have authority to transfer to SH the transferred property. The master’s authority in supplementary proceedings is still limited to execution against the transferred property by selling it at auction to the highest bidder. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-39-310 et seq. set forth the procedures for supplementary proceedings and mark out the edges of the power of a judge presiding over supplemental proceedings. In supplemental proceedings, the presiding judge is given authority to undertake such proceedings “for the application of the property of the judgment debtor towards the satisfaction of the judgment as are provided upon the return of an execution.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-310 (emphasis added). The

upshot of this is that the power of the presiding judge in supplemental proceedings remains limited to execution on the judgment debtor's property.

In his final Judgment, the master went well beyond the power conferred on him by S.C. Code §§ 15-39-310 et seq. Rather than sell the property of HH and 1634 Main, LP as he was required to do under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-310 and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-610, the master made a direct transfer of that property to SH. By making this direct transfer of the judgment debtors' property, the master erred. The master compounded this error by utterly disregarding the minor child's limited partnership interest in 1634 Main, LP. According to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-460, "[i]f it appears that a person ... alleged to have property of the judgment debtor ... claims an interest in the property adverse to him ... such interest shall be recoverable only in an action against such person by the receiver."

As a limited partner of 1634 Main, LP, the minor child had an interest in the 1634 Main Street real estate that is adverse to both judgment debtors, HH and 1634 Main, LP. The minor child's interest is recoverable only by an action by a receiver. No action was ever brought to recover the minor child's interest in the 1634 Main Street real estate, and no receiver was ever appointed to bring this action. The master erred in not reckoning with the minor child's interest in the 1634 Main Street real estate as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-460, and this Court should reverse on that additional basis.

#### **4. Prejudice**

HH and 1634 Main have suffered prejudice caused by the master's Judgment because the provisions of the South Carolina Code cited in this section of this brief are not only intended to facilitate the collection of judgments but also intended to give important protections to judgment debtors. Execution requires a sale of items of the judgment debtor's property "for the best price

that can be got for them.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-610. By contrast, the master’s Judgment only requires SH to “immediately ... market the assets in a commercially reasonable manner.” (R. p. 20)

The transfer also deprived HH and 1634 Main, LP of an important protection that they should have had against a short sale of the 1634 Main Street real property. According to S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130, “[a] plaintiff (judgment creditor) may not enforce a sale of property after a notice of appeal is filed without giving an undertaking or bond to the defendant (judgment debtor), with two good sureties in double the amount of the value of the property or double the amount of the judgment, conditioned to pay all damages the defendant may sustain by reason of the sale if the judgment is reversed.” (parentheticals added). The master’s Judgment requires no bond. (R. pp. 18-21) No bond has been posted in this case. In fact, no bond has been set. By making the direct transfer of the transferred property, the master bypassed the important protections afforded to HH and 1634 Main, LP by the bond requirement in S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-130.

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