STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Richland County
Joseph M. Strickland, Master-In-Equity
James F. Barber Jr., Supervising Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2009-CP-40-05911
Case No. 2010-CP-40-02889

RECEIVED

AUG 27 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2014-000965

1634 Main, LP,

Appellant

Vs.

Shirley Hammer,

Respondent

Vs.

Howard Hammer,

Appellant

and

Howard Hammer

Appellant

Vs.

Shirley Hammer,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Desa Ballard
Ballard & Watson, Attorneys at Law
Post Office Box 6338
West Columbia, SC 29171
Phone: 803-796-9299
Facsimile: 803-796-1066
Email: desab@desaballard.com
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Appellants’ reliance on *In re Hinson*, 20 B.R. 753 (Banker. D.S.C. 1982) for the proposition that judgment creditors are limited in their remedies to foreclosure actions is misplaced. *In re Hinson* was a bankruptcy action involving the enforceability of judgment liens against real property, whereas these are supplementary proceedings seeking application of judgment debtors’ assets to satisfy their judgment debts. They do not involve a judgment lien on real property nor do they involve questions of lien avoidance. The

language lifted by Appellants from the bankruptcy opinion regarding the fact that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-810 (1976, as amended) (the judgment lien statute) does not operate to transfer any interest in the debtor's property to the judgment creditor and that such a transfer of property interest can only be accomplished by sale pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-10, *et seq.* (1976, as amended), has no bearing on this action which is not for the foreclosure of a judgment lien. In fact, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-10(c) (1976, as amended) specifically provides that one manner of execution may be "the delivery of the possession of real or personal property or such delivery with damages for withholding the property," and there is no provision in the law which limits the master's authority to the procedures outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-610 *et seq.* (1976, as amended). (provisions related to property taken under execution), which would have applied had the Sheriff been able to reach Appellants' property in the original executions of judgment.

Appellants' remaining arguments are also without merit. First, as to Appellants' inflammatory and inaccurate arguments as to how they have been prejudiced by the Master's Order and by the alleged conduct of Respondent since January, none of those allegations are contained in the record nor are they supported by actual evidence. None of them are properly before the Court. Second, as to Appellants' arguments concerning the lack of a surety bond to protect it while the underlying judgments were on appeal, that issue is now moot as this Court has affirmed the underlying judgments. *Hammer v. Hammer*, Unpublished Opinion Number 2014-MO-007.

Finally, Appellants' arguments regarding the potential for harm to a third-party (the parties' minor child) whom Appellants allege had an interest in the LLC is also wholly

without merit. Appellants made no responsive pleadings at any point in the supplemental proceedings, produced not one document detailing it or anyone else's ownership interests in the subject property and LLC's, and essentially did everything they could to "hide the ball" regarding their assets and interests. If the minor child has any interest in the LLP, that interest was unaffected by the transfer. Appellants never raised this issue before the trial court. Appellants' cooperation with the process and full and fair disclosures would have uncovered those interests. As custodial parent of the minor child, Respondent will certainly do what is necessary to protect the child's interest in the LP, if any exists.

Appellants cannot by bald assertion avoid the application of their assets to lawful judgments against them simply by alleging some unproven interest of a third party. Moreover, even if Appellants "concern" for the interests and constitutional rights of a third-party were genuine, Appellants themselves have no standing to assert those rights as a way to avoid their own judgment debts. Again, this issue was not raised during the proceedings.

Appellants' reliance on Rule 62(a), SCRCP, as a way to void the Master's Deed is also misplaced. Rule 62(a), SCRCP, provides a ten day automatic stay of enforcement proceedings following judgment. These supplemental proceedings *are* enforcement proceedings and the Master's Deed was not initiated within ten days of the entry of the underlying judgments by the Circuit Court. Moreover, even if the Master's Order amounted to a new "judgment," which it does not, the burden was on Appellants to move for a stay of enforcement of the judgment pending the disposition of their motion for relief from judgment or while the Master's Order remained on appeal. *Stearns Bank Nat. Ass'n v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 375 S.C. 423, 653 S.E.2d 274 (2007). Appellants made no such

motion, and so even if Rule 62(a), SCRCP applied to the Master's Order, they have waived their right to claim the benefits of the 10 day stay to void the Master's Deed.

For all of these reasons, this Court should affirm the Master's January 21, 2014 Order transferring the property and property interests to Respondent.

II. The Master properly awarded sanctions against the judgment debtor pursuant to Rule 11 and the FCPSA.

Despite Appellants' insistence that they received no notice of Respondent's request for sanctions and were denied an opportunity to be heard, the record entirely supports the Master's decision to award sanctions. Appellants had every possible opportunity to conform their behavior to acceptable practice and were afforded a full opportunity to be heard – actually, to explain *ad nauseam* why they should not be held accountable for their conduct. Respondent complained of Appellants' obstructionist behaviors multiple times both orally, as well as in a motion for criminal contempt dated August 2, 2013. Specifically, Respondent complained repeatedly of Appellants interposing deliberately evasive answers, failing to produce information and documents as required by court order, failing to answer timely and completely; written discovery ordered by the court, and failing to file written responses to discovery as ordered. (R. pp. 48 - 54; R. p. 238, line 6 – p. 239, line 8, R. p. 242, line 8 – p. 243, line 8).

Respondent also specifically alleged that Appellants' conduct was intentional and for the purposes of obstructing legitimate legal process and harming Respondent by further delaying her receipt of monies owed. (R. pp. 48-54). The Master himself found Appellant Hammer to be “actually fairly evasive and uncooperative. In fact, for example we couldn't

even nail him down as to how old he was.” (R. p. 228, lines 6-14).

The supplemental proceedings, which should have taken only a few days and one hearing, dragged out over *eight months* and *four hearings*. They cost Respondent an additional \$55,385.70 in fees and costs -- all because Appellants refused to obey any court order, follow any normal rule of procedure, and interposed any and all objections and motions they could conjure up to delay the proceedings.

The Master understood Respondent’s request for fees as a request for sanctions (R. p. 368, lines 16 – 23), and while he ultimately declined to find Appellant Hammer in criminal contempt, he did award sanctions in the amount of \$55,385.70. Based on the procedural history of the supplemental proceedings and the obstructionist behavior of Appellants recited in the Master’s January 2014 Order at pages two through five, the Master granted Respondent her fees as a sanction pursuant to the FCPSA, S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10 *et. seq* (1976, *as amended*). and Rule 11, SCRCF. (R. pp. 17 – 18). In so ruling, the Master found specifically:

These proceedings have been extraordinary and multiplied in complexity as a direct result of Howard Hammer's intentional actions to thwart these proceedings as well as the actions of 1634 Main LP, acting through Howard Hammer. The willful failure to cooperate in these proceedings unnecessarily complicated and delayed these proceedings, some positions advanced by the judgment debtors were frivolous and were intended to delay these proceedings.

Id. at R. p. 18.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-10(c)(1) (1976, *as amended*) permits a court to sanction parties if it finds their manner of conducting their defense of a civil suit was intended merely to harass or injure the other party, or was frivolous, or was interposed merely for

delay. Under subsections (D) and (G), with notice and an opportunity to be heard, the court is empowered to sanction litigants including by requiring the payment of the aggrieved parties' fees. Here, Appellants knew as early as Aug. 2, 2013 when Respondent asked for criminal contempt findings, that sanctions were possible and, moreover, they knew with specificity what behaviors Respondent and the court found objectionable. They had five months to cure their conduct and two hearings in which to explain their failures to cooperate. At no time did Appellants provide the information they were ordered to provide nor did they cooperate with the proceedings in any sort of reasonable fashion. Appellants appeared to make each litigation decision with an eye toward further delay and obfuscation. Given the length of the proceedings and the specific findings of the Master, he had more than sufficient evidence to justify sanctioning Appellants under the relevant provisions of FCPSA. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Master's award of sanctions.

Rule 11, SCRCP, also provided the Master a mechanism by which he could and did sanction Appellants. Rule 11 allows a court to award fees and issue fines as punishment for a party filing frivolous motions, for making frivolous arguments, or for filing a motion in bad faith. *Ex parte Bon Secours-St. Francis Xavier Hosp., Inc.*, 393 S.C. 590, 597, 713 S.E.2d 624, 628 (2011); *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 437, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008). Rule 11(a), SCRCP, in the form existing at the time the Master issued his Order provides, "The signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate by him that he has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief there is good ground to support it; and that it is not interposed for delay." Further, Rule 11, SCRCP provides:

If a pleading, motion, or other paper is signed in violation of this Rule, the court, upon motion or upon its own initiative, may impose upon the person who signed it, a represented party, or both, an appropriate sanction, which may include an order to pay to the other party or parties the amount of the reasonable expenses incurred because of the filing of the pleading, motion or other paper, including a reasonable attorney's fee.

Rule 11, SCRPC. Under Rule 11, SCRPC, a party and/or the party's attorney may also be sanctioned for filing a frivolous pleading, motion or other paper, *or for making frivolous arguments*. *Runyon v. Wright*, 322 S.C. 15, 19, 471 S.E.2d 160,162 (1996) (citing *Link v. School District of Pickens County*, 302 S.C. 1, 393 S.E.2d 176 (1990)). "The party and/or attorney may also be sanctioned for filing a pleading, motion, or other paper in bad faith (i.e., to cause unnecessary delay) whether or not there is good ground to support it." *Id.* citing *Johnson v. Dailey*, 318 S.C. 318, 457 S.E.2d 613 (1995). "The sanction may include an order to pay the reasonable costs and attorneys' fees incurred by the party . . . defending against the frivolous action." *Ex parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. at 437, 663 S.E.2d at 50. Additionally, in order to deter such future conduct, the sanctions may include a fine paid to the party forced to defend against the frivolous action, or to the court. *Id.*

Our courts generally define an action as frivolous if there are no good grounds to support it or if it is interposed in bad faith to cause delay. Although compliance with Rule 11, SCRPC is evaluated by a subjective standard, this Court has held Rule 11, SCRPC "may be violated with a filing that is so patently without merit that no reasonable attorney could have a good faith belief in its propriety." *Ex parte Bon Secours*, 393 S.C. at 598, 713 S.E.2d at 628. The criteria for Rule 11, SCRPC sanctions are essentially the same as those for sanctions under the FCPSA. *In re Beard*, 359 S.C. 351, 597 S.E.2d 835 (Ct. App. 2004) (cert. denied).

As discussed above, the Master himself found Appellant Hammer to be “actually fairly evasive and uncooperative.” The supplemental proceedings, which should have taken only a few days and one hearing, dragged out over eight months and four hearings. Appellants refused to obey any court order or follow any normal rule of procedure, and interposed any and all objections and motions they could conjure up to delay the proceedings. In fact, they never produced any documents demanded of them and made excuse after excuse for why they could not bring themselves to produce the information sought by the court. The Master expressly awarded sanctions against Appellants based on the conduct of Appellants and for their making frivolous, delaying arguments designed to frustrate the purpose of the proceedings. The Master was completely within his discretion to award sanctions under Rule 11, SCRCP and this Court should affirm his decision.

As an alternate sustaining ground, Respondent also points out that it was within the inherent powers of the court to impose sanctions against recalcitrant parties who refused repeatedly to cooperate with the process. “When imposing sanctions pursuant to its inherent powers, the [court] must find that the conduct in question was ‘without colorable basis’ and undertaken in bad faith, i.e. ‘motivated by improper purpose such as harassment or delay.’” *Schlaifer Nance & Co. Inc. v. Estate of Andy Warhol*, 194 F.3d 323, 334 (2d Cir. 1999). Moreover, a court may exercise its inherent power to assess attorney’s fees when a party has “acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly or for oppressive reasons.” *Chambers v. NASCO. Inc.*, 501 U.S. 32, 45-46, 11 S.Ct. 2123 (1991). “These powers are governed not by rule or statute but by the control necessarily vested in courts to manage their own affairs so as to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases.” *Id.* at

43, (quoting *Link v. Wabash R. Co.*, 370 U.S. 626, 630-31, 82 S.Ct. 1386, (1962)).

Here, Appellants received specific written notice of their objectionable conduct in the form of Respondent's Motion for Contempt and orally at the various hearings where Respondent complained about their obstructionist conduct and frivolous motions. Respondent's requests for the imposition of sanctions in the form of attorneys' fees was well known to Appellants and they were given ample opportunity to be heard on the issue at multiple hearings.

The Master was clearly within his authority to sanction Appellants for their "beyond the pale" behaviors and cannot be said to have abused his discretion at any stage of the proceedings. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Master's award of fees to Respondent.

III. The Master had personal jurisdiction over Appellants in these supplemental proceedings, and service was proper under the applicable Rule of Civil Procedure.

Prior to Appellants' first failure to appear for a hearing in the supplemental proceedings (originally set for May 30, 2013), Appellants filed motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction claiming inadequate service because Judge Manning's orders were served by process server rather than by a sheriff's deputy (R. pp. 33-34; R. pp. 35-36). The Master denied Appellants' motion to dismiss, finding that Appellants had actual notice of the proceedings and thus had been afforded procedural due process. (R. pp. 4-5).⁷ Further,

⁷ Even if Rule 4(b), SCRCP, applied to these supplemental proceedings, our Courts have long held that, "[e]xacting compliance with the rules is not required to effect service of process; rather, the court must inquire whether the plaintiff has sufficiently complied with the rules such that the court has personal jurisdiction of the defendant and the defendant has notice of the proceedings." *Mull v. Ridgeland Realty, LLC* 387 S.C. 479, 693 S.E.2d 27 (Ct. App. 2010).

the Master ruled that because the Rules and Orders of Reference related to ongoing actions in which Appellants had already appeared, service was proper under Rule 5(b)⁸, SCRCP, and there was no need for Respondent to effect service under Rule 4. *Id.*

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